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BEFORE THE ILLINOIS POLLUTION CONTROL BOARD 

 

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS,  ) 

by KWAME RAOUL, Attorney   ) 

General of the State of Illinois,   )  

       ) 

   Complainant,    ) 

       )   

v.     ) PCB No. 22- 

     )  (Enforcement - Water) 

COOK-ILLINOIS CORP.,     ) 

an Illinois corporation,     ) 

       ) 

   Respondent.    ) 
 

 

To: Persons on Attached Service List 

 (VIA ELECTRONIC FILING) 

  

 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that I have today filed with the Office of the Clerk of the Illinois 

Pollution Control Board by electronic filing the Complaint, Stipulation and Proposal for 

Settlement, and Motion for Relief from Hearing Requirement, true and correct copies of which are 

attached hereto and hereby served upon you. 

 

      KWAME RAOUL 

      Attorney General 

      State of Illinois 

 

 

                              /s/ Christopher Grant 

      Christopher Grant, AAG 

 

Dated: June 13, 2022 

 

Christopher Grant  

Senior Assistant Attorney General 

Environmental Bureau 

Illinois Attorney General’s Office 

69 W. Washington Street, Suite 1800 

Chicago, Illinois  60602 

(312) 814-5388 

Primary e-mail address: Christopher.Grant@ilag.gov 
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SERVICE LIST 
 

 

Illinois Cook Corporation 

c/o Anthony Benish, Registered Agent 

2100 Clearwater Drive, Suite 250 

Oak Brook, IL 60523 

(Via Certified Mail) 

 

Illinois Cook Corporation 

c/o Kevin J. O’Brien 

Porter Wright Morris & Arthur LLP 

321 N. Lake Street, Suite 400 

Chicago, IL 60654 
kobrien@porterwright.com 

(Via Email)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Electronic Filing: Received, Clerk's Office 06/13/2022 **PCB 2022-085**

mailto:kobrien@porterwright.com


3 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

 I, the undersigned, certify that I have served on the date of June 13, 2022, the attached 

Notice of Filing, Complaint, Stipulation and Proposal for Settlement, and Motion for Relief from 

Hearing Requirement upon the persons listed on the foregoing Service List by methods described. 

 

      /s/ Christopher Grant 

      Christopher Grant  

      Senior Assistant Attorney General 

      Environmental Bureau 

      Illinois Attorney General’s Office 

      69 W. Washington Street, Suite 1800 

      Chicago, Illinois  60602 

      (312) 814-5388 

Primary e-mail: Christopher.Grant@ilag.gov 
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BEFORE THE ILLINOIS POLLUTION CONTROL BOARD 

 

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS,  ) 

by KWAME RAOUL, Attorney   ) 

General of the State of Illinois,   )  

       ) 

   Complainant,    ) 

       )   

v.     ) PCB No. 22- 

     )  (Enforcement - Water) 

COOK-ILLINOIS CORP.,     ) 

an Illinois corporation,     ) 

       ) 

   Respondent.    ) 

      

 

COMPLAINT 

Complainant, PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS, by KWAME RAOUL, Attorney 

General of the State of Illinois (“Complainant”), complains of Respondent, COOK-ILLINOIS 

CORP., an Illinois corporation, as follows:  

COUNT I 

FAILURE TO OBTAIN A GENERAL NATIONAL POLLUTANT DISCHARGE 

ELIMINATION SYSTEM PERMIT FOR INDUSTRIAL ACTIVITIES  

 

1. This Count is brought on behalf of the People of the State of Illinois by Kwame 

Raoul, Attorney General of the State of Illinois, on his own motion and at the request of the Illinois 

Environmental Protection Agency (“Illinois EPA”), against COOK-ILLINOIS CORP., an Illinois 

corporation (“Respondent” or “CIC”), pursuant to Section 31 of the Illinois Environmental 

Protection Act (“Act”), 415 ILCS 5/31 (2020). 

2. The Illinois EPA is an administrative agency of the State of Illinois created pursuant 

to Section 4 of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/4 (2020), and is charged, inter alia, with the duty of enforcing 

the Act. The Illinois EPA is further charged with the duty to abate violations of the National 
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Pollution Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit program under the Federal Clean 

Water Act (“CWA”), 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b)(7). 

3. At all times relevant to this Complaint, CIC has been and is an Illinois corporation 

registered and in good standing with the Illinois Secretary of State’s Office.  

4. At all times relevant to this Complaint, CIC owns and operates several subsidiaries, 

including Lakeside Transportation (“Lakeside”). Lakeside is a school bus transportation and 

maintenance facility located at 2794 N. Northwestern Avenue, Waukegan, Lake County, Illinois 

(the “Lakeside Facility”). The Lakeside Facility consists of an administrative office building, 

vehicle maintenance and storage facilities, paved access driveways, a paved parking lot, graveled 

lots for transportation vehicle storage, pervious setback areas, and open space. 

5. At all times relevant to this Complaint, the Lakeside Facility contains products used 

for the operation and maintenance of vehicles including, but not limited to, diesel fuel, motor oil, 

antifreeze, brake fluid, transmission fluid, windshield washer fluid, various greases and lubricants, 

and various cleaners (collectively “Maintenance Fluids”).   

6. The Lakeside Facility is a school bus transportation system and maintenance 

facility classified as Standard Industrial Classification Codes (“SIC”) 4151 and 4173. 

7. Stormwater at the Lakeside Facility discharges into the Suburban Country Club 

Tributary, which is tributary to the Des Plaines River.  

8. To obtain coverage under the NPDES General Stormwater Permit for Industrial 

Activities (“NPDES Industrial General Permit”), a facility is required to submit to the Illinois EPA 

a Notice of Intent (“NOI”), a Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (“SWPPP”), and a permit 

application fee. 

9. On June 6, 2017, the Illinois EPA received a NOI from Respondent to obtain 
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coverage for its Lakeside Facility under the NPDES Industrial General Permit.  

10.  On October 18, 2017 and June 28, 2018, the Illinois EPA issued Respondent 

Notices of Incompleteness for Respondent’s NPDES Industrial General Permit application for the 

Lakeside Facility. The permit application lacked a copy of a SWPPP and the permit application 

fee.  

11.  Respondent failed to respond to the October 18, 2017 and June 28, 2018 Notices 

of Incompleteness.  

12. On November 20, 2018, Respondent paid the permit application fee for the NPDES  

Industrial General Permit for the Lakeside Facility, but did not submit a SWPPP.  

 13. On April 26, 2019, an Illinois EPA inspector visited the Lakeside Facility, verified 

the Lakeside Facility was still in operation, and informed a representative of the Lakeside Facility 

that the Lakeside Facility was required to submit an updated NOI and a SWPPP to obtain coverage 

under the NPDES Industrial General Permit. 

 14. On May 2, 2019, and July 25, 2019, the Illinois EPA issued to Respondent a third 

and fourth Notice of Incompleteness for Respondent’s NPDES Industrial General Permit 

application for the Lakeside Facility. 

15. On November 12, 2020, Respondent submitted a new NOI and SWPPP to obtain 

coverage under the NPDES Industrial General Permit for the Lakeside Facility.  

16.  On November 16, 2020, the Illinois EPA issued Respondent a Notice of Coverage  

for the Lakeside Facility under the NPDES Industrial General Permit No. ILR007461.  

17.   Section 12(f) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/12(f) (2020), provides as follows: 

No person shall: 

 

Cause, threaten or allow the discharge of any contaminant into the waters 

of the State, as defined herein, including but not limited to, waters to any 
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sewage works, or into any well or from any point source within the State, 

without an NPDES [National Pollution Discharge Elimination System] 

permit for point source discharges issued by the Agency under Section 39(b) 

of this Act, or in violation of any term or condition imposed by such permit, 

or in violation of any NPDES permit filing requirement established under 

Section 39(b), or in violation of any regulations adopted by the Board or of 

any order adopted by the Board with respect to the NPDES program. 
 

18.  Industrial sites are subject to the Act and the rules and regulations promulgated 

by the Illinois Pollution Control Board (“Board”). The Board’s regulations for water pollution are 

codified at 35 Ill. Adm. Code, Subtitle C, Chapter 1 (“Board Water Pollution Regulations”). 

19.  Section 309.102(a) of the Board Water Pollution Regulations, 35 Ill. Adm. Code 

309.102(a), provides as follows: 

Except as in compliance with the provisions of the Act, Board regulations, and the 

CWA, and the provisions and conditions of the NPDES permit issued to the 

discharger, the discharge of any contaminant or pollutant by any person into the 

waters of the State from a point source or into a well shall be unlawful. 

 

20. Section 3.315 of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/3.315 (2020), provides as follows: 

“Person” is any individual, partnership, co-partnership, firm, company, 

limited liability company, corporation, association, joint stock company, 

trust, estate, political subdivision, state agency, or any other legal entity, or 

their legal representative, agent or assigns. 

 

21. Respondent, a corporation, is a “person” as that term is defined in Section 3.315 of 

the Act, 415 ILCS 5/3.315 (2020).  

22. Section 3.165 of the Act, 515 ILCS 5/3.165 (2020), provides as follows: 

 

“Contaminant” is any solid, liquid, or gaseous matter, any odor, or any form 

of energy, from whatever source. 

 

23. The Maintenance Fluids are “contaminants” as that term is defined by Section 3.165 

of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/3.165 (2020). 

24. Section 3.550 of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/3.550 (2020), provides the following 

definition:  
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“Waters” means all accumulations of water, surface and underground, 

natural, and artificial, public and private, or parts thereof, which are wholly 

or partially within, flow through, or border upon the State.  
 

25. The Suburban Country Club Tributary is “waters”, as that term is defined in Section 

3.550 of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/3.550 (2020).  

26. Section 502(14) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C.S. § 1362(14), provides the following 

definition: 

(14) The term “point source” means any discernible, confined and discrete 

conveyance, including but not limited to any pipe, ditch, channel, tunnel, conduit, 

well, discrete fissure, container, rolling stock, concentrated animal feeding operation, 

or vessel or other floating craft, from which pollutants are or may be discharged. This 

term does not include agricultural stormwater discharges and return flows from 

irrigated agriculture. 
 

27. The Lakeside Facility is a “point source”, as that term is defined in Section 502(14) 

of the CWA, 33 U.S.C.S. § 1362(14). 

28. The CWA regulates the discharge of pollutants from a point source into navigable 

waters and prohibits such point source discharges without an NPDES permit. The United States 

Environmental Protection Agency (“USEPA”) administers the NPDES program in each State 

unless the USEPA has delegated authority to do so to that State. 

29. The USEPA has authorized the State of Illinois to issue NPDES permits through 

the Illinois EPA in compliance with NPDES federal regulations, including stormwater discharges 

regulated by 40 CFR § 122.26, which requires a person to, among other things, obtain a NPDES 

permit and prepare and implement a stormwater pollution prevention plan. 

30. The USEPA NPDES Regulations require certain categories of point source 

dischargers to obtain coverage under a general NPDES permit. 

31. 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(a)(1)(ii) provides as follows: 

(a) Permit requirement. 
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(1)  Prior to October 1, 1994, discharges composed entirely of storm 

water shall not be required to obtain a NPDES permit except: 

 

* * * 

ii.  A discharge associated with industrial activity; 

32. 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(14)(viii) includes the following definition: 

(b)  Definitions. 

* * * 

 

(14)  Storm water discharge associated with industrial activity 

means the discharge from any conveyance that is used for 

collecting and conveying storm water…The following 

categories of facilities are considered to be engaging in 

“industrial activity” for purposes of paragraph (b)(14): 

  

    * * * 

 

(viii)  Transportation facilities classified as Standard 

Industrial Classifications 40, 41, 42 (except 4221–

25), 43, 44, 45, and 5171 which have vehicle 

maintenance shops, equipment cleaning operations, 

or airport deicing operations. Only those portions of 

the facility that are either involved in vehicle 

maintenance (including vehicle rehabilitation, 

mechanical repairs, painting, fueling, and 

lubrication), equipment cleaning operations, airport 

deicing operations, or which are otherwise identified 

under paragraphs (b)(14) (i)–(vii) or (ix)–(xi) of this 

section are associated with industrial activity; 

 

33. Respondent, who operates a school bus transportation and maintenance facility 

classified as SIC Codes 4151 and 4173, conducts “industrial activity” at the Lakeside Facility as 

defined in 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(b)(14)(viii).  

34. An NPDES permit is required for stormwater discharges associated with industrial 

activity at the Lakeside Facility pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 122.26(a)(1)(ii).  

35. By discharging stormwater associated with industrial activity at the Lakeside 
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Facility from at least June 6, 2017 through November 16, 2020, or a date or dates better known to 

Respondent, without obtaining coverage under the NPDES General Stormwater Permit for 

Industrial Activities, Respondent thereby violated Section 12(f) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/12(f) 

(2020), and Section 309.102(a) of the Board Water Pollution Regulations, 35 Ill. Adm. Code 

309.102(a).  

WHEREFORE, Complainant, PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS, respectfully 

requests that the Board enter an Order against Respondent, COOK-ILLINOIS CORP., with respect 

to Count I: 

1. Authorizing a hearing in this matter at which time Respondent will be required to 

answer the allegations herein;  

2. Finding that Respondent has violated Section 12(f) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/12(f) 

(2020), and Section 309.102(a) of the Board Water Pollution Regulations, 35 Ill. Adm. Code 

309.102(a);  

3. Ordering Respondent to cease and desist from any future violations of Section 12(f) 

of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/12(f) (2020), and Section 309.102(a) of the Board Water Pollution 

Regulations, 35 Ill. Adm. Code 309.102(a);  

4. Assessing against Respondent a civil penalty of Ten Thousand Dollars 

($10,000.00) for each day of violation of Section 12(f) of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/12(f), and Section 

309.102(a) of the Board Water Pollution Regulations, 35 Ill. Adm. Code 309.102(a); 

5. Taxing all costs in this action, including, but not limited to, attorney, expert witness 

and consultant fees against Respondent; and 

6. Granting other such relief as the Board deems appropriate and just. 
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      Respectfully submitted, 

      

     PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS 

       by KWAME RAOUL, Attorney General 

       of the State of Illinois 

 

       MATTHEW J. DUNN, Chief 

       Environmental Enforcement/Asbestos  

       Litigation Division 

 

 

       BY:  /s/ Stephen J. Sylvester  

             STEPHEN J. SYLVESTER, Chief 

             Environmental Bureau 

             Assistant Attorney General  

 

 

 

 

 

Of Counsel:  

AUDREY AVILA  

CHRISTOPHER GRANT 

Assistant Attorneys General 

Environmental Bureau 

Illinois Attorney General’s Office 

69 W. Washington Street, Suite 1800 

Chicago, Illinois 60602 

(312) 814-6986 

(312) 814-5388 

Primary email: audrey.avila@ilag.gov 

Secondary email: maria.cacaccio@ilag.gov 
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BEFORE THE ILLINOIS POLLUTION CONTROL BOARD 

 

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS,  ) 

by KWAME RAOUL, Attorney   ) 

General of the State of Illinois,   )  

       ) 

   Complainant,    ) 

       )   

v.     ) PCB No. 22- 

     )  (Enforcement - Water) 

COOK-ILLINOIS CORP.,     ) 

an Illinois corporation,     ) 

       ) 

   Respondent.    ) 

      

MOTION TO REQUEST RELIEF FROM HEARING REQUIREMENT 

 

 Now comes Complainant, PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS, by KWAME 

RAOUL, Attorney General of the State of Illinois, and requests relief from the requirement of a 

hearing in this matter.  In support thereof, the Complainant states as follows: 

 1. Along with this Motion, Complainant is filing the initial Complaint in this matter, 

and a Stipulation and Proposal for Settlement executed between Complainant and Respondent 

Cook-Illinois Corp.     

 2.  Section 31 of the Act, 415 ILCS 5/31 (2020), provides, in pertinent part, as 

follows: 

     * * * 

 (c)(2)  Notwithstanding the provisions of subdivision (1) of this 

subsection (c), whenever a complaint has been filed on behalf of the 

Agency or by the People of the State of Illinois, the parties may file with 

the Board a stipulation and proposal for settlement accompanied by a 

request for relief from the requirement of a hearing pursuant to 

subdivision (1).  Unless the Board, in its discretion, concludes that a 

hearing will be held, the Board shall cause notice of the stipulation, 

proposal and request for relief to be published and sent in the same 

manner as is required for hearing pursuant to subdivision (1) of this 

subsection.  The notice shall include a statement that any person may file a 

written demand for hearing within 21 days after receiving the notice.  If 
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any person files a timely written demand for hearing, the Board shall deny 

the request for relief from a hearing and shall hold a hearing in accordance 

with the provisions of subdivision (1). 

 

       * * * 

 

 3. No hearing is now scheduled in this matter. 

  

 4.  The Complainant, PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS, hereby requests 

relief from the requirement of a hearing pursuant to 415 ILCS 5/31(c)(2) (2020). 

 

      Respectfully submitted, 

            

      PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS 

      By KWAME RAOUL, 

      Attorney General of the 

       State of Illinois 

       

      MATTHEW J. DUNN, Chief 

      Environmental Enforcement/Asbestos 

      Litigation Division 

 

      STEPHEN SYLVESTER, Chief 

      Environmental Bureau North 

     

       

 

     BY:   _/S Christopher Grant_________ 

      CHRISTOPHER GRANT 

      Senior Assistant Attorney General 

      Environmental Bureau 

      69 W.  Washington St., #1800 

      Chicago, Illinois  60602 

      (312) 814-5388 

      Christopher.grant@ilag.gov 
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